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				Preface

				The Thames is much more than a mere river and writing a book about it, as I discovered when it was too late to turn back, is much more than describing a body of water. In fact, I was often writing not so much the story of a river but what seemed an entire history of England, from the trading habits of Roman settlers and the role of Thames bridges in the civil war to the effects of industrialization and the impact of the Blitz.

				Not that examining history as far back as it has been recorded - and sometimes even further - revealed the whole tale. Its surface may at times be frozen but the Thames never stops flowing; its waters and their surrounds document the present (think Canary Wharf or the Millennium Dome) as thoroughly as they do the past while also offering pointers to the future.

				As activists activate, speculators speculate and environmentalists tangle with developers, the river itself is suddenly a focus of debate. Should regeneration necessarily include preservation? How many anchors embedded in the pavement are needed to suggest “heritage” on London’s riverside? Refreshingly less contentious are matters such as the upper river’s conservation of historic locks, the lengthening Thames Path, and the post-industrial (partial) greening of the Thames estuary, allowing the broadest sections of the river to be enjoyed with fresh air rather than toxic fumes for company. On the subject of company, I have to mention Fred Thacker, without whom the Thames would seem a very different river and any serious account of it would be much the poorer. Thacker’s three books of the early 1900s saved subsequent generations of Thames writers serious legwork in unearthing documents of the early river while his personal asides offer matchless insights.

				Whether fiction or fact, several other books with the river at their heart deserve particular mention: Sydney R. Jones’ Thames Triumphant (1943) casts the waterway as a fixed reference point in the turmoil of the Second World War; William Morris’ News From Nowhere (1891) embraces a post-apocalypse England and takes us onto the Thames to view it; the real Thameside scenes of the late nineteenth century are described with revealing (if often unintentionally so) insights by the well-to-do gentlemen who authored The Royal River (1885). Jerome K.

				Jerome’s seemingly immortal Three Men in a Boat (1889) still brings easy laughs but at another level reflects an attitude to the river and its surrounds that, a hundred years on, might be seen (if only by me) as hardening into Iain Sinclair’s Downriver (1991), an intense, abrasive and worrying book - for all the right reasons.

				As should any account unhindered by mooring details and lock- keepers’ telephone numbers, mine describes the Thames as a source of power, a provider of livelihood and an object of pleasure, and above all as a waterway imbued with a cultural and historical meaning acquired over many centuries of human interaction.

				Seen in this light, the Thames reveals itself to be less a river than a mirror, a reflection of who we are.

			

		

	
		
			
				Introduction: A Symbolic River

				And we came to realize more than ever that the Thames is the true symbolic river of England, the river that has nurtured within its embrace many of the people and systems, ideas, aims, and ideals, which in no small measure through the centuries have built up the character and trends of the race, reflected on the pages of ancient and modern history by deeds accomplished, some failures, and many triumphs.

				Sydney R. Jones, Thames Triumphant, 1943

				The River Thames should be a simple thing: a body of water that rises from the ground some three hundred feet above sea-level in a Gloucestershire meadow and flows for 215 miles downhill in a generally easterly direction until reaching the North Sea. Yet as Sydney R. Jones noted, albeit in the emotionally-charged atmosphere of an England at war, this is a river with a significance far greater than its mere physical form would suggest.

				The Thames has been a source of sustenance, a provider of raw materials, a means of transport for kings, queens and commoners, linked rural England to the centres of national power as well as the markets of Europe and beyond, been a site for palaces and prisons, and seen the plots, conspiracies and political intrigues - from Magna Carta to the Profumo Affair - that have shaped the course of English history.

				For generations, the river provided a living, and a lifestyle, for many on its course, be they the osier gatherers, eel-catchers and isolated lock- keepers of the upper river or the shipwrights and ferrymen, and later the dockers, of London. For almost as long as people have lived along its banks, the Thames has inspired novels, poetry and song, and since Victorian times it has been a major provider of pleasure and sport, originating the Oxford-Cambridge Boat Race, hosting regattas by the score, and still lined by countless rowing clubs and boatyards.

				Watched over by grazing cows in quiet meadows and crossed by medieval bridges that once linked manor houses and monasteries, some sections have barely changed since the days horses pulled barges and transported Cotswold wool to market. By stark contrast, many other parts of the Thames have been, or are being, transformed almost beyond recognition. In London, the river has entered the twenty-first century as one of the capital’s most discussed aspects: new architecture a feature of its banks; regeneration the buzzword of the riverside; new pathways making its course through the metropolis publicly accessible.

				East of London along the Thames estuary, toxicity and pollution have been reduced and enabled the river to again be seen as a desirable natural asset. The potential of the “Thames Gateway”, a media-friendly term for the estuary and much around it, to become, despite political controversies and ecological concerns, the solution to south-east Britain’s housing crisis, confirms the continuing rediscovery of the river - and a growing affirmation of its contribution to the well-being of the nation.

				Early History

				Its course determined by successive ice ages and its name and character by successive invaders, occupiers and inhabitants of Britain, the Thames (as it would become) may well have existed for millions of years but almost certainly, 600,000 to 475,000 years ago, flowed across southern England to become a tributary of the Rhine, Britain then connected by land to Europe. Later glaciation forced the Thames south by perhaps twenty miles and gave it sufficient force to slice through the Chiltern Hills and create what is now Goring Gap. Its velocity lessening as the ice receded, the river eventually acquired its present course.

				Belief that the fertile Thames Valley, west of London, may have been a site of human habitation for 300,000 years is supported by discovery of simple stone tools along the river and evidence of boatbuilding: typically simple rafts made from logs held together with animal hides for moving heavy loads over slow-moving water, and simple dug-out canoes and coracles enabling travel across faster-moving stretches. Continuing occupation, following the Ice Age which ended 10,000 years ago, is revealed by later finds including those connected with the Celts who arrived from Gaul (having crossed the English Channel, which since around 65000BC had divided Britain from Europe) and introduced the Iron Age to Britain. Boatbuilding advances and greater use of the river for trade and communication ensued. Agriculture benefited significantly from the wheeled plough, brought to Britain by the Belgae (a Celtic-Germanic group) from around 75BC. Such advances stimulated population growth. And larger settlements spread along the river.

				Aided by the Dobunni people of the upper Thames Valley, who resisted the advance of the Celts and Belgae, lasting Roman occupation of Britain began under Claudius in 43AD. Initially, the Romans made Colchester the capital of their new territory but recognizing the importance of the Thames (named Tamesis by the Romans, possibly from a Celt word, Tems, or the Sanskrit tamas, each meaning “darkness” and presumably a reference to the colour of its waters) for commerce and communications, a small riverside settlement was developed into a trade and administrative centre called Londinium, today’s London.

				At strategic points, the Romans built pile-driven wharves, sturdier and able to handle a far greater weight of cargo than previous landing stages, as developing boatbuilding technology allowed larger loads to be carried. Ceramics and roof tiles, prerequisites for Roman villas, joined hay and grain among the staples of expanding river commerce. Romans introduced techniques for strengthening the river bank and gave the Thames its first fixed crossing: the earliest London Bridge, constructed around AD50, of squared beams of oak arranged for stability in an interlocking pattern, and built another crossing at Staines, known to the Romans simply as Pontes or Bridge. The Roman road system, which included the creation of post-houses and inns at major fording points, speeded the movement of produce to market and fuelled the rise of a Romano-British merchant class, in turn heightening the importance of riverside settlements.

				As the Roman empire declined in the fourth century, Saxons steadily penetrated Britain, advancing along the Thames as far as Dorchester and creating settlements (recognized by the ending “ing” in their names, such as Reading and Sonning) on its banks. Doing much to forge the lasting character of the river, the Saxons began the process of diverting water to power corn mills with “weirs” (a word of Saxon origin, as was “eyot”, meaning island and still in common usage on the Thames). River trade was stimulated by abbeys established at towns such as Abingdon and Chertsey following St. Augustine’s arrival in Britain during 59, charged with converting the pagan population to Christianity.

				By the time of Alfred (reigned 871-99), Britain faced attack from the Danes, though the conflict was largely resolved, after Alfred’s death, by the Thames becoming a dividing line between the rule of Anglo- Saxons (the Saxons and other Germanic tribes, the Jutes and Angles, from whom the word England was derived) in the south and that of the Danes in the north. As a result of succession struggles in England following the death of Edward the Confessor (reigned 1042-66), the Normans under William I (“the Conqueror”) invaded. Prevented from crossing the Thames at Southwark, the Normans marched along the south side of the river, crossing at Wallingford to advance again on London, this time successfully.

				Once established, Normans not only introduced feudalism to Britain, but also the stone buildings that signalled a rise in Cotswold quarrying, the local stone well-suited to construction uses and moved along the Thames to build William’s new defensive positions in and around London, notably that which became Windsor Castle. In protecting hunting rights on lands adjacent to the river, William effectively asserted royal control over the river itself.

				Weirs, Locks and Other Hazards

				Know ye all that we, for the health of our soul, our father’s soul, and all our ancestors’ souls, and also for the common weal of the City of London, and of all our realm have granted and steadfastly commanded that all weirs that are in the Thames be removed...

				Second Charter of Richard I, 1197

				Royal control may have formally existed over the entire Thames, but in practice the waterway was a free-for-all. Richard’s barely-implemented declaration reflected long-running conflicts between those for whom the river was a means of transport and the riparian landowners who constructed weirs for their mills and usually owned the adjacent locks where tolls were levied on passing river traffic. Weirs typically altered navigation channels and created shallows, thereby hindering barges and regularly flooding riverside hamlets and farmland.

				The earliest Thames weirs were simple manipulations of the river’s flow, commonly using parallel timber beams and any available debris, such as chalk or stone, to change the river’s course, depth and speed over a small section. As barges grew larger, there evolved a more sophisticated form of lock known as “rhymer-and-paddle”, or “flash” lock. These began with a cill of wood and stone driven into the river bed across its width, with further beams at intervals above, the top one being at the highest water level. A vertical series of “paddles”, wooden planks that slotted into grooves cut into the upstream side of the horizontal beams, were similarly set across the width of the river and kept firm against the frame by water pressure. The gaps between the paddles were filled by overlapping wooden “rymers”. Often there were several layers of rymers to provide greater control over water levels.

				When a barge wished to pass (subject to the whim of the lock- keeper and payment of a sometimes extortionate toll), the paddles and rymers were raised by the lock-keeper using poles attached to them; the resulting “flash” of water continued until levels on both sides of the lock were equal. Moving a barge upstream, against the flow, could be slow and arduous; larger barges (which by the eighteenth century were able to carry two hundred tons) sometimes required up to eighty men aided by a dozen horses. A bargeman moving in the other direction would often save time by simply allowing the water flow to carry his vessel through, sometimes at dangerous speed and with its success dependent on the bargeman’s skill in assessing whether the speed was sufficient to clear the shallows. The “flash” meanwhile continued downriver to the next lock, raising water levels as it went, a process eventually regulated by a daily schedule of lock openings.

				Already resentful of high tolls, bargemen were further irritated by mill locks, used to create a head of water to power one or more waterwheels. Many of the earliest and largest mills were run by monks to grind cereals; with the rise of industrialization mills produced paper, cloth and metal products. Mill locks typically diverted water as the river flowed through a narrow channel, such as at the downriver end of an island, or in some cases a bank would be dug to create a new channel. Both methods affected river navigation and could cause flooding.

				The threat to mercantile trade from unnavigable river stretches led to the creation in 1605 of the Oxford-Burcot Commission, charged with ensuring clear passage between Oxford and Burcot (east of Lechlade) where cargo had to be transferred from river to road as shallows made the waterway impassable. Under the commission, the Thames acquired its first pound locks, early examples of modern locks with two sets of swing gates spanning the river a short interval apart. Such locks were built at Iffley, Sandford and the Swift Ditch near Abingdon, though no more followed until 1772 with the opening of Boulter’s Lock at Maidenhead under the auspices of the Thames Navigation Commission.

				Further hazards for bargeman were various devices used by Thames fisherman. At their simplest, these were “kidles” (sometimes called “stops” or “hedges”) set close to the bank often at an angle across the current and composed of brushwood formed into V- or W-shaped structures, creating a channel at the end of which were placed nets in which migrating fish became trapped. Despite becoming increasingly sophisticated, such traps were unstable and liable to collapse in the heavy flows that followed rainfall, causing logs and debris to block the river’s navigation channels. During the seasonal eel migration, sections of flash locks might be converted into eel bucks. From a wooden frame, several elongated baskets, sometimes ten feet in length, were lowered into the river, trapping eels inside. Eels were also caught with “grigwels”, a baited basket laid on the river bed and left overnight. Another widespread Thames trade was osier farming, usually on islands since they were inaccessible to cattle. A cut of willow would be planted, harvested a year later and, after preparation, sold primarily for use in basketry and furniture.

				Controlling the Thames

				To raise revenue for the Crusades, Richard I (reigned 1189-99) sold rights over the river to the City of London Corporation, acknowledging the supremacy of mercantile interests in disputes over Thames navigation, even though the ability of the corporation to assert control over the river away from the capital was negligible. In 1215 Magna Carta included provisions prohibiting navigational obstructions on the river and in 1285 the authority of the City of London Corporation was recognized as extending only as far west as Staines. In 1350 Edward III re-affirmed royal control over the river but, as before, there was no practical method of such control being fully implemented and disputes between landowners and bargemen continued.

				In The Thames Highway: Vol.2, Thacker notes that around 1535 “a ferocious crusade against weirs was waged all over the country, instigated apparently by the king himself: a piquant little parergon in the intervals of harrying the monasteries; to which, and to pricate Catholics, it is notable that many of the weirs belonged.” Thacker illustrated the lack of maintenance of weirs, locks and the river bank by quoting sections of Thames Isis, John Taylor’s 1632 book of linked verses detailing river obstructions. At Sutton Courtenay Taylor found:

				...there are left

				Piles that almost our barges bottome cleft;

				These Sutton locks are great impediments.

				The waters fall with such violence.

				And downriver at Datchet:

				A stop, a weare, a dangerous sunke tree

				Not far from Datchet ferry are all three.

				In the eighteenth century, the Thames Navigation Commission was created to oversee improvements as industrialization made smooth river passage increasingly important. An unwieldy body composed of several hundred members that included members of parliament, Oxford University officials and assorted mayors, clergymen and riverside landowners, it might be surprising that the commission achieved anything at all. Yet it oversaw construction of towpaths, sometimes by compulsory purchase of riverside land, sought to ensure the maintenance of flash locks and to synchronize their opening, thereby reducing queuing and problems downriver due to the sudden release of water. Many flash locks were improved by use of chains and wooden axles on which the paddles could be turned, rather than raised, giving the lockkeeper greater control of water flow, though subsequently the commission replaced many such locks with the safer and more efficient pound locks: by 1809 there were 26 such locks in operation, allowing a load to travel from Lechlade (the western limit of navigation) to London in five days.

				The rise of industry and the creation of canals highlighted the necessity of ensuring swift and problem-free movement on the Thames. Canals could make a well-maintained and easily-navigated Thames part of a nationwide conduit for the movement of goods, be it the passage from London of imported tea and sugar to the provinces, or the converse movement of food - huge amounts of cheese, flour, cereals, hay, timber and hides - to the fast-growing metropolis. A Thames hindered by delays, high tolls and localized disputes would lose its customers and those employed along its course would lose their livelihoods. Attempts to evade the tolls, often applied per ton of cargo, were common, and became particularly widespread at Lechlade, where young, inexperienced lock-keepers were no match for, as Thacker puts it, “truculent and hard swearing bargemen”.

				By the mid-nineteenth century, the failings of the increasingly outmoded Thames Commission were apparent as it faced substantial debts and the loss of many workers; it was replaced by the more streamlined Thames Conservancy, which by 1866 controlled the river from Cricklade to the estuary. Despite caveats allowing continued private ownership of certain channels and weirs, the Conservancy effectively oversaw the river’s development under public control, with an Act of Parliament stating that “private interests should no longer interfere with the navigation of one of the most important highways of the kingdom.” The Conservancy presided over bank stabilization, dredging to improve existing navigation channels and the creation of quicker, straighter channels (the numerous “cuts” that are a feature of today’s river). Innovations included electric alarms to signal changing water levels at locks close to the mills and the requirement of lock- keepers to keep their grounds, as well as their locks, in good condition: prizes for lock gardens were first awarded in 1898.

				In banning shooting for hunting purposes between Teddington and Cricklade in 1885 on grounds that the river had “come to be largely used as a place of public recreation and resort,” the Conservancy recognized the changing role of the Thames. Railways had usurped the waterway’s role as a primary transport route and, in 1897, it was ruled that passenger steamers would take precedence over barges at Richmond and Teddington locks, a reversal of previous rulings giving rights of way to cargo carriers. It was, as Thacker noted, something that “might make the old bargemasters turn in their grave,” but it signalled a new era in the life of the Thames: as a river of leisure and relaxation.

				

				Messing about on the Thames

				The Thames had long been a source of pleasure for society’s upper crust but during the late nineteenth century, following the transformations wrought by industrialization, it began providing recreation for the expanding middle class and the more affluent sections of the working class. Besides the rise of leisure travel on the river itself, people could travel on the new railways, which made daytrips and weekend jaunts to riverside towns feasible and affordable, and actively encouraged by rail companies. Thacker noted in The Thames Highway Vol. 2 that, “having ruined the water traffic upon the Thames [railways] began to discern the possibility of exploiting the river’s allurement for their own profit.”

				Lock-keepers responded by providing refreshments, as previously hard-working river towns sought to re-invent themselves as glamorous resorts. Maidenhead gained a collection of fashionable hotels such as Skindles (along with many cheaper, seedier alternatives) as punts, skiffs and other craft rented by holiday makers jammed Boulter’s Lock. On the estuary, Gravesend enjoyed a few halcyon decades as a vacation destination for Londoners, while river features such as the islands of Eel Pie and Taggs became popular picnic and entertainment venues.

				Steamboats were another aspect of Thames pleasure. In 1843 the first steam passenger service appeared, though after causing £300 of damage to the riverbank between Teddington and Hampton Court, its speed was limited to 2mph. The Oxford company, Salter’s, began a twice-weekly scheduled steamer service between Oxford and Kingston in 1878, its popularity leading to a daily service by 1891. Passengers could board at any lock or stop, carry bicycles, and could buy tickets enabling travel in one direction by boat and in the other aboard the Great Western Railway. Boatyards switched production from commercial to pleasure craft, including such items as the houseboat and the camping skiff: essentially a simple boat equipped with canvas cover and camping paraphernalia, enabling the occupants to spend the night, as well as the day, on the river. The Thames Conservancy recognized the changes by introducing registration fees for pleasure craft. By 1889, 12,000 such vessels were recorded, a fifty per cent increase on the previous year. From the early 1880s river income from pleasure usage exceeded that from commercial use.

				Published in 1912, James Englefield’s The Delightful Life of Pleasure on the Thames described the river’s changing face as it appeared to the fisherman:

				...the continual and increasing disturbance of the river from the wash and hurry and turmoil caused by hundreds of steam launches and the endless procession of every description of floating craft, from the light canoe, dinghy or outrigger, to the lordly, much decorated, or hotel-like houseboat. Its banks will then be thronged by gaily dressed and joyous holiday makers, merry and loving couples towing boats along, horses also drawing skiffs and houseboats, and by an innumerable host of spectators, especially at the locks; by idlers, loafers and roughs.

				Three Men - and Some Servants - in a Boat

				With great commercial success, the changing mood of the river was also evoked by Jerome K. Jerome’s Three Men in a Boat. Published in 1889 and based on personal experiences of Thames trips, the story uses humour and faux naivety to chronicle the adventures of three river novices - two of them, typically for the time, clerks - threatened not only by treacherous currents and dangerous weirs but grumpy lock- keepers and cheating boatyards. Yet while the presence of clerks in a small boat was part of the river’s changing scene, the book reveals that even among such people there was nostalgia for times recently past:

				We had a good deal of trouble with steam launches that morning. It was just before the Henley week, and they were going up in large numbers; some by themselves, some towing houseboats. I do hate steam launches: I suppose every rowing man does. I never see a steam launch but I feel I should like to lure it to a lonely part of the river, and there, in the silence and the solitude, strangle it.

				Steamboats became the dominant mode of travel on the Thames but houseboats were the most elegant, enabling the rich to tackle the river complete with serving staff, bedrooms, a living and dining area with well-equipped kitchen, railing-enclosed decks decorated with potted plants and comfortable seats. Freshly-painted for the occasion and with hired musicians to provide entertainment aboard, houseboats became a feature of regattas, lining the route at Henley and typically following the racing season as it moved downriver. Of houseboats moored at Cleeve Lock, near Streatley, The Royal River (1885) glowingly reported: “The little muslined windows are gaily decked with flowers, there is a miniature flower-garden upon the flat roof, and where the roof overhangs are suspended Chinese lanterns, gorgeous with many a brilliant stripe and pot.” Despite being picturesque additions to the riverscape, houseboats earned the ire of river folk and local landowners alike, whether for causing blockages in and around locks or for mooring for an entire summer in a single spot, availing themselves neither of local hotels nor local eateries.

				Charles Dickens Jr. (eldest son of the novelist) records in the 1898 edition of his Dictionary of the Thames: “House-boats have become extremely popular on the river of late years, although riparian owners are apt to look upon them, not without cause, as unmitigated nuisances... one of the first desires of the of the modern occupant of the house-boat is to show how much money they have to squander.”

				The Rise of the Regatta

				Racing on the Thames had included, from 1716, the Dogget Coat and Badge, contested by watermen who had recently completed their apprenticeship by rowing between London Bridge and Chelsea. Just as it was unthinkable for a gentleman to row himself from one place to another rather than to pay a professional to do so, it was equally preposterous to the upper classes that true sport, including rowing, could be anything but amateur. The river’s first amateur race, the Wingfield Sculls, began in 1830 and mirrored the soaring membership of rowing clubs along the Thames. A long, straight river section at Henley provided a course for the first Oxford-Cambridge University boat race in 1829 and ten years later became the site of the river’s first annual regatta, quickly becoming a social as much as a sporting occasion. In Victorians on the Thames, R. R. Bollard quotes a nineteenth-century edition of the magazine Punch offering some tips for attending the Henley Regatta: “If you really wish to make a favourable impression upon everyone, be cheery, contented, good-natured, and, above all, slightly interested in the racing.”

				After Henley, the commercial appeal of regattas became apparent and they spread rapidly. Goring and Streatley, Marlow, Cookham, Maidenhead, Windsor and Eton, Wargrave, Chertsey, Molesey, Bourne End and other riverside communities all showed themselves eager for the business boost of such an event. Some regattas pointedly disregarded the distinction between amateur and professional and allowed full-time river men to show their prowess. Others, alongside the serious races, might include punt racing, water jousting and the climbing of a greasy pole suspended over the water to catch a pig (which itself was the prize).

				The Docks and After

				Being a source of pleasure contrasted with the Thames’ other role as an economic linchpin of the British empire. Trade on London’s river expanded dramatically through the eighteenth century and by the nineteenth had inspired a total change in the landscape and population patterns of the city. Tracts of east London became vast wet docks ringed by warehouses and enclosed by towering brick walls; some extant communities were destroyed while others were effectively corralled. Advancing industrialization transformed the riverbank in London and to the east along the Thames estuary, where long-standing boatbuilding and barge repair yards were joined, and soon outnumbered, by cement works, chemical plants, grain silos, sugar refineries, power stations, gasworks and sewage treatment facilities. Extensive commercial usage polluted the river and its banks, and even the non-tidal river (above Teddington) bore the scars of technological advance. A book-length study, The Thames Valley from Cricklade to Staines: A Survey of its Existing State and some Suggestions for its Future Preservation, appeared in 1929, its authors aghast at the horrors of advertising hoardings and petrol stations steadily undermining the beauty of Thamesside settlements.

				For good or ill, the solution to the docks’ decline (brought about from the late 1960s chiefly by the rise of containerization) came in the late 1980s when the area’s regeneration became one of the many controversial features of the prime ministership of Margaret Thatcher, and was symbolized by the shrine to a deregulated economy that was Canary Wharf Tower. The sprouting of the Millennium Dome on the stagnating Greenwich Peninsula under a subsequent government also provoked loud derision, though in the years following the millennium itself, such additions were just two of the more easily recognizable features of a new London riverscape.

				Of the river generally, the discovery of a seahorse in the estuary in 2004, the first such creature spotted in the Thames since 1976, was widely taken as an indicator of a cleaner river enticing back the diverse marine life that decades of industrial pollution had driven away. Some, however, suggested that global warming was responsible for the seahorse’s visit and could also have pointed to the regular release of raw sewage into the river as a reminder than the waterway is still often regarded as repository for waste, despite the efforts of local environmentalists and public campaigns for sustained improvement of the Thames and its surrounds. The appearance in January 2006 of a normally deep-ocean-dwelling northern bottlenose whale as far upriver as west London, excited local residents and the global media and offered a reminder not only of the mysterious lives of whales, but also of the enduring ability of the Thames to provide sudden, unexpected spectacles.

				While far from perfect, far from clean and with new structures on its banks likely to provoke excitement and disgust in equal measure, the Thames today is nonetheless more inviting to human visitors than it has been for centuries. The Thames Path, currently 183 miles from the source to the Thames Barrier, has made travelling the river without the aid of a boat easy and rewarding. Beyond the barrier too, new footpaths are being created that reveal long hidden riverside vistas of natural, historical and cultural value.

				The Art of the Thames

				Bird’s-eye cartographic views of London and its river had been created in the sixteenth century, notably by the Flemish Anthony van den Wyngaerde (1525-71) and Ralph (Radulph) Agas (c.1540-1621). A century later came the groundbreaking work of a Bohemian refugee, Vaclav (Wenceslas) Hollar (1607-77). From an eyrie in a Southwark bell- tower, Hollar worked the eight-foot-long, Long View of London from Southwark, completed in 1647. That London would soon be ravaged by plague and much destroyed by the Great Fire in 1666 made Hollar’s work all the more valuable as a record of the city and the river along which it spread, as were his subsequent depictions of the fire itself and the ruined city that emerged from it.

				An infusion of Dutch and Flemish painters into Britain from the late seventeenth century brought greater artistry to depictions of the Thames. Peter Tillemans (1684-1734) composed river panoramas that included The Thames at Twickenham, while others cast the river as a backdrop to great events. These included the 1680 Greenwich from One Hill Tree by Johannes Vorsterman (1643-99), a view as suggested by the title but one depicting the new Royal Observatory and the restored Charles II’s new palace, as royal yachts off Deptford fire a salute and a sunburst above the river bestows heaven’s blessing on the king’s return.

				Whether geniuses or journeymen, British artists could find a regular source of income with river subjects. Shipbuilders wanted their creations recorded for posterity, captains commissioned reminders of ships they commanded, and naval ships, whether new or returning from victory in battle, provided further sources of revenue. Artists such as Francis Holman (1729-84) and his pupil Thomas Luny (1759-1837) were prominent among those working in the Dutch maritime tradition. Another was John Cleveley (1712-77), who was a Deptford-based shipwright before turning to art, a course followed by his twin sons John the Younger (1747-86) and Robert (1747-1809).

				After the 1746 arrival in London of the Venetian Canaletto (1697- 1768), the Dutch style became less dominant. Canaletto’s river scenes were often wide-angled vistas from elegant riverside terraces but with London: Seen Through an Arch of Westminster Bridge (1747) he presented St. Paul’s Cathedral and its surrounds through the arches of the new Westminster Bridge, linking the architectural symbol of London’s recovery from the 1666 fire to the modern city’s economic health, about to be improved still further by completion of the bridge. Canaletto’s popularity boosted the market for river views and his style influenced many British maritime painters, including Samuel Scott (1702-72), whose subsequent work moved away from ships to studies of Thames bridges, river workers and fishermen. Similarly capturing the underbelly of river life was the 1883 pen-and-ink Toil, Glitter, Grime and Wealth on a Flowing Tide, by W. L. Wyllie (1851-1931), though much of the artist’s renown stemmed from his paintings of naval vessels.

				Jacques (James) Tissot (1836-1902), who arrived in London as a refuge from the Franco-Prussian War, found the Thames less a place of work than a fashion accessory for the Victorian society he portrayed. As Michael Wentworth suggests in his study of the artist: “for Tissot, the wonders of the river... were always as much social as nautical.” Tissot’s river people included the middle classes in rural settings such as with Autumn on the Thames (Nuneham Courtney) and On The Thames - A Heron. One set on a busier reach, a jungle of steam funnels and sails providing the background, was The Thames; its supposedly salacious content - one man, two unchaperoned women and several bottles of champagne in a small boat - provoked uproar in 1876 following its first public showing.

				English artist J. M. W. Turner (1775-1851) grew up close to the river at Brentford and in 1805, as his reputation was growing, travelled upriver as far as Oxford, creating a number of etchings and subsequent paintings that provide insights into the Thames of the time as well as into Turner’s own development. His early images of river workers at Walton and farmhands beneath Kingston Bridge quickly became the stuff of history. In the new age of railways, Turner returned to Maidenhead to create a painting in 1844 that showed a river and a country on the cusp of change: Rain, Steam and Speed - the Great Western Railway. Change was also evoked in Turner’s The Fighting Temeraire (1838), suggestive of the end of mast and sail as the eponymous naval vessel, a participant in the 1798 British victory at Trafalgar, is towed to its destruction by a steam-powered Thames tug.

				Claude Monet (1840-1926) was already well established by 1899 when he arrived in London and began a series of paintings studying the interplay of water, buildings and (usually misty or polluted) air, including such widely-reproduced images as The Thames at Westminster and The Thames below Westminster Bridge. Monet’s view of the Thames from a balcony of the Savoy Hotel was occasionally shared by his friend, the American painter James Whistler (1834-1903). Whistler created many memorable (and controversial) scenes beside the Thames, including the gritty, if impressionistic, depictions of London river life at Rotherhithe and Wapping published in 1871 as The Thames Set, and celebrated canvases such as Nocturne in Blue and Gold: Old Battersea Bridge.

				Many have photographed the Thames, but few have done so as evocatively as Henry Taunt (1842-1922). Son of an Oxford tailor, Taunt was a photographer’s assistant at the age of fourteen and a regular river traveller by the early 1860s. The river scenes he captured became the basis of an 1871 lecture series: A Trip down the Thames from London to its Source, complete with readings, live performers and Taunt’s glass slides projected onto walls. The following year, Taunt published the first of what would be fifty books, A New Map of the River Thames, a commercial success as the river’s popularity soared. While Taunt developed other interests, including writing songs and tricycle repair, his ability with the chemical processes of early film and his eye for composition made his Thames images particularly striking. Not only did he record river features now long gone: flash locks, wooden bridges, eel bucks and more, but displayed a rare ability for a photographer of his time to make his subjects, people and families for whom the river might have provided a livelihood for generations, appear entirely at ease. As Bryan Brown writes in The England of Henry Taunt: “most of Taunt’s photographs have a remarkable freshness about them. Although not unaware of the photographic equipment, his subjects seem to take up poses natural to their age, character and occupation.”

				Writing the River: Taylor and Thacker

				Ferryman, pamphleteer and author, John Taylor (1580-1653) proclaimed himself the “water poet” of the Thames. Apprenticed to a waterman, Taylor was soon press-ganged into the navy and reputedly completed 16 voyages before returning to the Thames only to find its traditional skills in decline and the waterman’s livelihood threatened by new forms of transport, including the new hackney carriages, which prompted Taylor to write:

				Carrouches, coaches, jades and Flanders mares,

				Do rob us of our shares, our wares, our fares,

				Against the ground we stand and knocke our heeles,

				Whilst all our profit runs away on wheels.

				Taylor became a prominent member of London’s Guild of Boatmen and campaigned for improvements with books such as Thames Isis, which also gave river historians of later eras an important source of reference (as did his subsequent account of river trade, Carriers Cosmographie). Taylor was known to bend a truth or two, however, and part of his income came from planning outrageous journeys and selling subscriptions to future accounts of them. For one such trip, Taylor undertook to walk to Edinburgh without “borrowing, begging, or asking meat, drink or lodging” and wrote the story up as The Pennyles Pilgrim. Some purchasers demanded their money back as word spread that Taylor, although he had walked to Edinburgh, had borrowed and begged the whole way. Although Taylor enjoyed celebrity and published numerous books of verse, he was not noted for his literary skills:

				Some through ignorance, and some through spite

				Have said I can neither read nor write.

				Long after Taylor’s death, however, poet Robert Southey glowingly wrote: “Kings and Queens condescended to notice him, nobles and archbishops admitted him to their table, and mayors and corporations received him with civic honours.” But the Cambridge History of English and American Literature placed Taylor in a lesser light: “...a voluminous scribbler, possessed of irrepressible assurance and facile wit of a coarse vein. He had, however, the saving grace of acute observation of men and manners, and this has given his productions a certain value for the student of social history. The term ‘literary bargee’ befits him much better than his own self-styled title ‘the water-poet’.”

				Three self-published volumes, The Stripling Thames (1909), The Thames Highway (1914) and The Thames Highway Vol. 2: Locks & Weirs (1920), earned Fred Thacker a reputation as an expert on Thames history. Far from seeking to promote his own stature, the beauty of Thacker’s work is that it was clearly not work at all, but a labour of love for the river on which he had spent his entire career and a great deal of his leisure. Thacker’s meticulous research, spanning the documents of many centuries coupled to personal insights gained from his experience of the river and its people, makes for compelling reading, despite the dated prose style and what, in other hands, might be an excess of detail and trivia. The 1920 book, for example, really does spend several hundred pages accounting the minutiae of Thames locks and weirs but holds interest simply through the author’s enthusiasm and his regular discovery of river quirks and curiosities.

				Even Thacker’s interludes of nostalgia seem less a descent into sentiment than a cry of joy for the Thames, especially as he is keenly aware that the river and the river people he describes will not stay as they are for long. Of his discovery of an abandoned miller’s cottage at Ray Mill Island, at Boulter’s Lock near Maidenhead, Thacker wrote:

				I roamed and dreamed over Ray Mill close one day of March in 1912, while the new works were in progress; and discerned before it was too late what a little kingdom the island once formed for the soul and hand of a man. At the lower end was his material living, the mill: busy enough in old centuries when England was wise to feed herself; and close by stood his home. Here lay all his intercourse with the outside world. Within lay secluded what an earthly paradise, surrounded with living Thames! Still I behold shady undulating alleys leading by little bridges across artificial brooks; still ancient barns and bowers of honeysuckle and clematis; still tiny sandy capes and bays where, a long lifetime ago, you might have sat for golden hours and watched the last Thames salmon leap below the weir. Above the garden extends a triangular meadow, narrowing to the weir; which continues northward in its curve at least six centuries old. On the right main Thames flows down in tumbling foam, muttering of the sea, huddling along as though already late.

			

		

	
		
			
				A Meandering River

				For the first of the approximately 120 miles from its disputed source to Reading, the Thames disguises its importance, a trickle pressing through reeds and grasses, amounting to nothing more than a minor addition to the rural topography. Yet even weaving a narrow course through farmland and the kind of villages for whom the adjective “sleepy” was invented, the river displays its uncanny ability to reveal many millennia of English history. The Thames’ first crossing is a road dating from the Roman conquest; the first sizeable town on its course is one with Saxon roots sited near a major Iron Age track.

				Of the river’s own history, barely a bend or secluded glade on its early course is not enlivened by tales of legendary lock-keepers or long- vanished weirs. Many of these rich veins were mined by in the early 1900s by author Fred Thacker, but where Thacker spent his working life on the river and his retirement chronicling its past, others of more elevated social rank accorded the Thames similar gravitas. For William Morris it provided a thread running through his post-apocalypse vision of England, News from Nowhere, and a waterway beside which to turn a declining farmhouse into Kelmscott Manor, a beacon of the Arts and Crafts movement. Other writers, as diverse as Robert Southey, Lewis Carroll and Colin Dexter, have found inspiration along the banks of the stripling Thames, while George Orwell’s wish to spend eternity in a quintessentially English village was fulfilled near the river at Sutton Courtenay.

				Whether navigating the Cumnor Hills, bringing views of Oxford’s spires across Port Meadow, exposing the surreal isolation of Tenfoot Bridge, or the Civil War scars at Radcot Bridge, the meandering Thames rarely seems in a rush (the evocatively named Sandford Lasher an exception). Despite an overwhelmingly pastoral outlook, the young Thames holds many surprises. Water-filled former quarries link the waterway to what sometimes seems an inland sea; by the Iron Age fortifications of Wittenham Clumps looms the twentieth-century behemoth of Didcot Power Station; the serene meadows at Culham conceal the cutting-edge physics that may yet revolutionize how the world gets its energy.

				The Source(s)

				Beneath an ageing ash tree in a group of fields that constitute Trewsbury Mead, a stone bears the inscription: “The Conservators of the river Thames 1857-1974. This stone was placed here to mark the source of the river Thames.” A leap of imagination is required to see a dry field near the village of Kemble amid the rolling hills of the Cotswolds as the start-point of the river that charts a course not only from here to the North Sea but through two thousand years of English history and providing, on the way, inspiration for poets, novelists and artists. Robert Gibbings wrote of the scene in 1940: “I had hoped to see at the source of the river a clear brook issuing from a rock or gravelley bed but, instead, I found only a dried-up well and a series of muddy land drains. Needless to say I was disappointed.” Nonetheless, the Thames officially begins here and, after prolonged rainfall, due to the porous limestone beneath ground and a position within a drainage basin, the field may resemble a small lake. For much of the year, though, including the summer when most visitors arrive, a dry field is all to be seen, other than a herd of cows grazing lazily. Fred Thacker admitted: “One’s first emotion is almost to tears.”

				Arguments over the details of the river’s source have raged from the bar of Kemble’s Thames Head pub to London’s Houses of Parliament. In 1937 the member whose constituency included Seven Springs, eleven miles north of Trewsbury Mead and the head of the River Churn, insisted that maps be re-drawn to show Seven Springs as the Thames’ true source. He was ridiculed for his shameless opportunism by the Minister for Agriculture who pronounced that the source would remain at Trewsbury Mead: which happened to be in the Agriculture Minister’s own constituency. Even today, maps convey uncertainty, if not over the source then over the name: many label the waterway as “Thames or Isis”; a few older examples mark the outpouring from Seven Springs as “the Churn or Thames”.

				Close to Trewsbury Mead, the river passes beneath the A433, also known as Fosse Way, a Roman route marking the western extent of the Roman occupation of Britain. The Thames emerges on the other side recognizably a river but a small one that struggles through weeds and rushes. Thomas Love Peacock wrote:

				Let fancy lead from Trewsbury Mead,

				With hazel fringed and copsewood deep,

				Where, scarcely seen, through brilliant green,

				Thy infant waters softly creep.

				A soft creep was the last thing on the mind of John Pridey, who in 1781 completed the first survey for what would become the Thames and Severn Canal, intended to extend the navigable Thames to the River Severn. Within ten years, the section from Inglesham to Stroud was in operation with seventy-foot barges carrying thirty-ton cargoes. Yet the natural springs that today can seem reluctant to show themselves forced water through the clay bed of the canal following heavy winter rain and, in summer, canal water leaked through the holes. Always struggling to make a profit, the canal closed in 1933, its route still visible in the landscape. Passengers as well as cargo travelled on the canal and found the journey less bumpy than the stagecoach equivalent. C. S. Forester in Hornblower and the “Atropos” describes his eponymous hero making a 24- hour trip, including the negotiating of a hundred locks, from Gloucester to London: “The passage boat was making her way from Gloucester to London along the Thames and Severn Canal; going far more smoothly than the stage coach, it was very nearly as fast and decidedly cheaper, at a penny a mile, even in the first class.”

				Forester’s traveller also noted the local building material, Cotswold stone: “Standing on his sea-chest, Hornblower could look over the canal banks, at the grey stone boundary walls and the grey stone farms.” A type of oolitic limestone dating from the Jurassic period, Cotswold stone provides an excellent building material and was long used as such for cottages, churches, public houses and bridges throughout this stretch of the Thames. Stone quarrying damaged much of the landscape between Kemble and Cricklade, leading inadvertently to the creation of the Cotswold Water Park as abandoned quarries flooded and the resultant lakes were linked to the Thames. Quarrying continues in and around Waterhay Bridge where the riverside path, where it can be discerned, is marked with disturbing warnings of the dangers of quicksand.

				For drivers, the water park brings the disconcerting appearance of sails behind roadside hedgerows, while nearby Ashton Keynes finds the Thames rippling through the village in a series of small channels, many of which are crossed by slender footbridges. Of Ashton Keynes’ many crossings, Thacker speculated: “One is tempted to herald abroad that it possesses as many in its tiny area than in all the rest of Thames.” To William Cobbett in 1826, however, Ashton Keynes was simply a “very curious place”.

				Cricklade

				The western limit of the navigable Thames, Cricklade (“place by the river crossing”) grew significantly in Saxon times, marking the Wessex- Mercia frontier with fortifications raised by Wessex’s King Alfred. Signs to “Saxon ramparts” liable to excite historically-minded visitors are misleading, however. The most evident vestiges of Saxon Cricklade times are the grid-style layout and impressions of the ramparts in the landscape, best assessed by ascending the striking four-pinnacled Tudor-era tower of St. Sampson’s Church, which looms above the high street.

				The Anglo-Saxon Chronicle notes of 1015 that the Dane Cnut crossed the Thames at Cricklade intent on regaining control of the northern Danelaw, where his foe Æthelred had taken power and who had, in turn, been usurped by his own son, Edmund: “Here in this year Cnut came with his enemy army, and Ealdorman Eadric with him, across the Thames into Mercia at Cricklade, and they turned then into Warwickshire within the Christmas season, and ravaged and burnt and killed all they came across.”

				By the eighteenth century, Cricklade had gained an unwanted reputation as the rottenest of England’s rotten boroughs, where parliamentary seats bore no relation to population and elections were won through bribery. Social reformer William Cobbett was particularly aggrieved by the conditions endured by Cricklade’s farm labourers, whose work seemed only to provide food for those in urban areas. In Rural Rides (1830) he wrote: “I passed through that villainous hole Cricklade about two hours ago, and certainly a more rascally looking place I never set my eyes on. The labourers look very poor; dwellings little better than pigbeds and their food nearly equal to that of a pig.”

				Cricklade makes a doubted claim to be where St. Augustine sought to convert the Anglo-Saxons to Christianity. Better documented religious activity involves the Particular Baptists who opened a chapel here in 1852 and performed baptisms in the Thames at Hatchett’s Ford. The decline of the sect saw the closure of the chapel in 1937; it now houses the town museum.

				Inglesham, Lechlade and Old Father Thames

				East of Cricklade, the Thames traverses a flat landscape in endless shades of green. In 1885 the authors of The Royal River wrote of the scene: “The river itself, so far, claims no particular notice, calls for no warmth of admiration. It makes no noise, performs no astonishing feats, inspires no terrors, but steals tranquilly through the meadows, and silently flows by the plentiful rushes which, unmolested, protect its banks in these remote reaches.”

				At Inglesham (where the thirteenth-century church was restored by William Morris; see p.9), overlooking the now-dry bed of the Thames and Severn Canal and almost obscured by weeping willows and creeping ivy, is a lock-keeper’s round house, one of the purpose-built homes erected by canal companies for their employees. This example enjoys the distinction of a conical roof intended to allow the collection of rainwater for drinking purposes.

				Although the decline of the canal threatened their livelihoods, the river’s tourism boom was good news for lock-keepers. In Thames Valley Villages (1910) C. G. Harper wrote: “At Inglesham Round House there are plentiful facilities wherewith to refresh the body... the lockkeeper’s domain includes a number of sheds and shanties devised for the benefit of picnic-parties... Here also is a greatly-patronised camping ground, generally plentifully occupied with tents in favourable summers.”

				From Inglesham, Lechlade and the dominant spire of its church appears across the Thames, boosted on either side of the town by the rivers Colne and Leach. Also within sight is the Halfpenny Bridge, carrying the A361 into Lechlade. Built contemporaneously with the canal, the bridge’s high arch suggests the size of the cargo barges that once passed beneath it, while its name derives from the toll levied on pedestrians. Fear not if you arrive without loose change today: the pedestrian toll ended in 1839 and the toll house which sits on the bridge’s eastern end is unattended.

				Pleasure boats tethered on Lechlade’s marina suggest little of the busy activity around what were once the town docks, the loading point for London-bound vessels. In The Stripling Thames, Thacker quotes an account of a 1793 Lechlade barge-master departing for London with: “Iron, Copper, Tin, manufactured and pig iron, Brass Spelter, Cannon, Cheese, Nails all Iron goods and Bomb shells” and returning with a load including “Raw Hides for Tewkesbury and Worcester and Gunpowder to Bristol and Liverpool”.

				Presumably such commercial bustle greeted four Thames travellers in August 1815 arriving here on a journey to the river’s source. They were the poet Percy Bysshe Shelley, his lover Mary Godwin (the future Mary Shelley) and her stepbrother, and poet and novelist Thomas Love Peacock. At Lechlade Shelley proposed to abandon the quest for the source and instead embark on a two-thousand-mile canal journey around Britain. Short of the £20 necessary to pay the canal boatman, however, the four abandoned both undertakings. At some point, Shelley repaired to the yard of the fifteenth-century St. Lawrence’s Church, raised in Cotswold stone, to pen what became “A Summer Evening Churchyard, Lechlade, Gloucestershire”, which concludes:

				The dead are sleeping in their sepulchres:

				And, mouldering as they sleep, a thrilling sound,

				Half sense half thought, among the darkness stirs,

				Breathed from their wormy beds all living things around,

				And, mingling with the still night and mute sky,

				Its awful hush is felt inaudibly.

				Thus solemnized and softened, death is mild

				And terrorless as this serenest night.

				Here could I hope, like some enquiring child

				Sporting on graves, that death did hide from human sight

				Sweet secrets, or beside its breathless sleep

				That loveliest dreams perpetual watch did keep.

				In the church, a small plaque records the Shelley connection but fails to mention the poet being sent down from Oxford University for co- authoring The Necessity of Atheism.

				Lechlade’s other Thames crossing, carrying the A417, is St. John’s Bridge, a nineteenth-century replacement for a thirteenth-century stone bridge which, in turn, appeared on the site of a wooden crossing destroyed by flood in 1206. Close by, St. John’s Lock, at 250 feet above sea level, is the highest lock on the Thames and the only one watched over by a sculptured figure of Father Thames himself. Commissioned by London merchants and crafted in Portland cement by Rafaelle Monti, Father Thames was made for the 1851 Crystal Palace Great Exhibition. Saved when the palace burned down in 1936, the statue served ignominiously as a garden ornament until a Thames Conservancy official moved it to Trewsbury Mead in 1958; after an attack by vandals, it was relocated here in 1974. Despite sentiment applied to it by some writers and the countless photos taken of it by Thames tourists, Father Thames is an ugly statue with no true link to the river and one that might well appear incongruous in any setting: the vandals of Trewsbury Mead perhaps had a point.

				East of Lechlade, the riverside landscape locates another chapter of English history: a succession of ruined Second World War concrete pillboxes, originally part of the defensive line intended to stop invading German forces pressing northward into the Midlands; the pillboxes’ effectiveness, of course, was never put to the test.

				Onwards to Nowhere: William Morris and Kelmscott Manor

				A look inside Inglesham Church reveals what David Sharp calls “a miracle brought about by William Morris”, only slightly overstating the quality of the 1880s restoration of the tiny church. Focusing on its original Jacobean pulpit and medieval paintings, Morris’ work sought to emphasize the church’s true history and character rather than re- arranging its form to suit the prevailing affection for ecclesiastical Gothic.

				William Morris (1834-96) was a founder of the influential Arts and Crafts Movement; partly a reaction to the industrialization which he saw as destroying traditional craft skills, just as urban living in factory towns separated people from nature. Morris designed furniture, fabrics, wallpaper, typefaces, and much more, and in 1871 bought (with Pre- Raphaelite painter Dante Gabriel Rossetti) the lease on Kelmscott Manor, close to the Thames beside the village of Kelmscott. The “manor”, really a Tudor farmhouse, was extensively renovated by Morris. In The Stripling Thames Thacker quotes a Mr. Leslie recalling a visit: “Morris took us up into the attic where he delighted in descanting on the old woodwork displayed in the trussing and staying of the roof timbers. We paid a visit to the garden, and on one hedge, a clipped yew, was the form of a dragon which Morris had amused himself by gradually developing with the clipper.” Of Kelmscott in the 1940s Sydney R. Jones recalled in Thames Triumphant: “We stalked this lovely old building from every angle; noticed the walls that Morris used to speak of, battering up slightly out of the perpendicular; saw the perky little windows with pediments, up above the mullioned ones; admired the beautiful roofs, the gable finials, and the chimneys.”

				With his Kelmscott printing-press, Morris published hand-bound volumes of Chaucer and his own utopian novel, News from Nowhere. In it, the novel’s narrator wakes up in a future England where money, strife, and industrialization have vanished; its final section describes a journey along the Thames through an idyllic landscape, freed of railways and canals, to Kelmscott. Along the same route in 1896, Morris’ body was carried from his home in Hammersmith to be buried in Kelmscott Church beneath a distinctive canopy-shaped tombstone.

				Towards Newbridge: Buscot, Eaton Hastings, Shifford and Radcot

				In 1859, with a fortune earned from gold trading in Australia, Robert Campbell bought Buscot Park Estate, running south from the Thames between Lechlade and Farringdon, and began turning its derelict four thousand acres into what he called his “great agricultural experiment”. With a state-of-the-art irrigation system, a narrow-gauge railway, concrete buildings and even its own gasworks, Buscot began producing sugar beet, the spirit from which was extracted in a large distillery and exported to France to become brandy. Campbell allegedly spent £100,000 on the enterprise, but a combination of illness, the Franco- Prussian war plus the high initial outlay all contributed to his bankruptcy and in 1879 the farm’s contents were sold off. The former distillery now holds a Thames Water pumping station while the rest of the estate, the former farm, a manor house and landscaped gardens, are owned by the National Trust.

				Seemingly oblivious to the rise of river traffic, Hilaire Belloc in The Historic Thames (1907) wrote: “There are dozens of reaches upon the upper Thames with little in sight save the willow, the meadows, and a village church tower, which present exactly the same aspect to-day as they did when that church was first built.” By being similarly oblivious to busy roads, new housing developments, and the intermittent presence of military aircraft using RAF Fairford, it is easy to say, a century on, that Belloc’s comments hold true; snippets of local history and folklore are all that pepper the marshy route from Kelmscott to Newbridge.

				Rich legends have evolved up around the weirs that once marked this section and the toll-collectors whose job involved prolonged solitude miles from the nearest village. J. H. B. Peel mournfully describes Shifford Lock as “the loneliest on the Thames”. Nonetheless, the job could have its perks, not least the supply of illicit liquor carried by bargemen to ease the monotony and provide a source of additional income.

				In 1909 Thacker said of Eaton (then Hart’s) Weir: “The one real adventure of river life still survives at Hart’s Weir; and for many years may it flourish with its white rymers and paddles, and fresh tumbling water filling the air all day with murmurous sound.” Alas, it ceased to murmur by order of the Thames Conservancy in 1936, as did an earlier weir at Tenfoot, now remembered by the wooden, hump-back Tenfoot Bridge which preserves the public right of way. A suggestion of the sights and sounds that so thrilled Thacker, however, might be found at Rushey Lock, where a paddle-and-rymer weir remains.

				Indications of a greater historical substance are provided in the hamlet of Shifford by a field and a rock called “Alfred’s Stone”, thought to indicate the site of the “first English parliament” presided over by King Alfred around AD900 with a membership that included, according to Reliquiae Antiquae (a nineteenth-century gathering of early English manuscripts): “Many bishops, and many book-learned. Earl’s wise and Knights awful.”

				At Radcot, an important centre for the transport of Cotswold stone and earlier of Cotswold wool, the river divides into two channels beneath two bridges. Dating in part from the twelfth century, the older bridge, like many of the time, was raised by a religious order. Of its three arches and craftsmanship Thacker concluded: “Built wonderfully with strength for its destiny, the old fellows fashioned it a miniature of beauty.” In December 1387 the bridge was the scene of a battle between Robert de Vere, Earl of Oxford, on the side of Richard II and attempting to return to London, and the Earl of Derby, one of the “Lord’s Appelate” and the future Henry IV. A poet recorded:

				Thy copious waters hold their way

				Tow’rds Radcot arches old and grey,

				Where triumped erst the rebel host,

				When hapless Richard’s hopes were lost;

				And Oxford sought, with humbled pride

				Existence from thy guardian tide.

				While de Vere evaded capture by swimming his horse across the river, Derby’s victory helped precipitate what became the Merciless Parliament, imposing restrictions on the young monarch. Three hundred years later, with royalist forces garrisoned at Faringdon, two miles south, the bridge saw action in the Civil War as Prince Rupert’s men routed a parliamentarian force seeking to take control of the crossing. After the war, the bridge itself became a target: the Levellers are credited with lopping off the statue of the Virgin Mary which occupied a niche on the downstream side.

				Radcot’s newer bridge crosses a 1780s navigation cut built in anticipation of increased traffic following the construction of the Thames and Severn Canal. As evinced by the scrapes along its inner walls, the newer course proved more difficult to navigate. Thacker lamented: “many a steerman has here in mere seconds lost the sedulously acquired reputation of a lifetime.”

				Newbridge and towards Oxford

				The “new bridge” at Newbridge is actually quite an old bridge, raised by Benedictine monks in the thirteenth century to facilitate the transport of Cotswold wool but earning its name by being younger than the bridge at Radcot. It is also distinguished by its six arches and by having sixteenth-century inns on either end: on the Oxfordshire side stands The Rose Revived; on the Berkshire bank is The Maybush. And that is just about all there is of Newbridge.

				Swelled by the waters of the Windrush, the Thames continues from Newbridge to Northmoor Lock, where the desire for preservation has led to a refitting of the old rymer-and-paddle lock with fibreglass parts and Bablock Hythe, where the management of the Ferrymen Inn until recently maintained the tradition of operating a ferry at a crossing point documented since Roman times. Author and critic Matthew Arnold (1822-88) used the local landscape as the setting for his 1850s poem “The Scholar Gypsy”:

				Crossing the stripling Thames at Bablock-hithe,

				Trailing in the cool stream thy fingers wet,

				As the punt’s rope chops round;

				And leaning backward in a pensive dream,

				And fostering in thy lap a heap of flowers

				Plucked in the shy fields and distant Wychwood bowers,

				And thine eyes resting on the moonlit stream.

				In 1894 the Thames Conservancy decided to replace the rope by which the ferry was pulled with what Thacker described as “a submerged chain for the benefit of modern degeneracy”. Local opposition to distant authority soon saw the rope return.

				Amid the seventeenth-century cottages of Stanton Harcourt are the older remnants of the manor of the Harcourt family (resident from the twelfth century until moving to Nuneham Courtenay), where in 1718 Alexander Pope completed the fifth volume of his translation of Homer’s Iliad. Pope worked in a study at the top of what is now Pope’s Tower, from where “there would be a splendid view... were it not for the spreading elms that screen the landscape,” wrote Thacker in 1909. While here, Pope heard about two local lovers, John Hewet and Sarah Drew, “an industrious young man & virtuous maiden of this parish”, who were struck by lightning and killed. Pope composed an epitaph to them at their grave in the local churchyard, dismayed at the opposition to their being given a Christian burial, writing to a friend: “They cannot get it out of their heads (that) it was a judgement of God.”

				The Cumnor Hills

				Arnold was not alone in finding literary inspiration in landscapes that rise from meadow-coated flatlands to the richly wooded Cumnor and Wytham Hills. Oscar Wilde wrote in Burden of Itys:

				If it was though jasmine-cradled bird

				Who from the leafy stillness of thy throne

				Sang to the wondrous boy, until he heard

				The horn of Atlanta faintly blown

				Across the Cumnor Hills, and wondering

				Through Bagley Wood at evening found the

				Attic poet’s spring...

				While perhaps more affectingly, since it was written by a soldier during the First World War, Dyneley Hussey offered in “An Oxford Retrospect: May 1915”:

				O’er the cloud-dappled Cumnor hills the shade

				Chases the sunlight-there I oft have strayed

				And watched dun much-cows munch the hours away.

				At the foot of the hills, the privately-owned Swinford Toll Bridge continues the practice, established here with the opening of the bridge in 1777 so that the Earl of Abingdon could recoup his outlay, of collecting a toll on those who cross. Pedestrians are exempt, but drivers are charged 5p. For collecting the toll, and indeed doing a fine job of maintaining the bridge and its immediate surrounds, not least installing the toilets that make a welcome sight for Thames hikers, the long-serving lock- keeper Bill McCreadie was awarded an MBE in 2002.

				

				Godstow and Mr. Dodgson

				Turning south at Kings Lock, the river brings views of Oxford and passes the ruins of Godstow Abbey, a twelfth-century Benedictine nunnery established to provide education for the daughters of the nobility. It was here in 1176, two years after her role as Henry II’s mistress had become known, that Rosamund Clifford (“Fair Rosamund”) arrived, dying soon after and lying within the chapel, her tomb candle-lit and strewn with fresh flowers. In 1191 the tomb was discovered by St. Hugh of Avalon, Bishop of Lincoln, who banished her remains to the adjacent nuns’ cemetery where it is popularly thought they were buried beneath a hazel tree. The popular story that Rosamund bore Henry two sons is dismissed by many historians who also give scant credence to the story that Rosamund was murdered by a jealous wife, Queen Eleanor of Aquitaine. Poet Robert Southey played on public affection for Rosamund and in his Inscriptions series of 1797 included “For a Tablet at Godstow Nunnery”:

				Here Stranger rest thee! from the neighbouring towers

				Of Oxford, haply thou hast forced thy bark

				Up this strong stream, whose broken waters here

				Send pleasant murmurs to the listening sense:

				Rest thee beneath this hazel; its green boughs

				Afford a grateful shade, and to the eye

				Fair is its fruit: Stranger! the seemly fruit

				Is worthless, all is hollowness within,

				For on the grave of ROSAMUND it grows!

				Young lovely and beloved she fell seduced,

				And here retir’d to wear her wretched age

				In earnest prayer and bitter penitence,

				Despis’d and self-despising: think of her

				Young Man! and learn to reverence Womankind!

				The nunnery’s former hospice now forms part of the Trout Inn. A riverside setting and proximity to Oxford helped the inn acquire a clientele that included (along with the alleged ghost of Rosamund) academics and literary notables such as A. P. Herbert, Aldous Huxley and Evelyn Waugh, who gave it a bit part in Brideshead Revisited. Another regular, Colin Dexter, authored the Inspector Morse books, which were adapted into a ratings-topping TV series in the 1990s. The Trout appeared in several episodes of Inspector Morse and became a feature on the tourist circuit, a development which might well find the fictional Morse crying into his glass of cask-brewed ale.

				In July 1862 ten-year-old Alice Liddell and her two sisters were taken along the river from Folly Bridge in Oxford to Godstow by Charles Lutwidge Dodgson, mathematics tutor at Oxford’s Christ Church, where Alice’s father was dean, and the Reverend Robinson Duckworth. Such outings were regular occurrences for the five, for whom Dodgson carried “a large basket full of cakes” and would make up stories with characters based on the girls cast into fantastic settings. In 1928 Alice told the New York Times: “The beginning of Alice was told to me one summer afternoon when the sun was so hot we landed in the meadows down the river, deserting the boat to take refuge in the only bit of shade to be found, which was under a newly made hayrick. Here from all three of us, my sisters and myself, came the old petition, ‘Tell us a story’ and Mr. Dodgson began it.”

				At Alice’s further insistence, and for her entertainment, Dodgson began putting his stories onto paper. The result was the 1865 publication, under the pseudonym Lewis Carroll, of Alice’s Adventures in Wonderland, a title soon shortened to Alice in Wonderland, followed in 1871 by Alice through the Looking Glass. Both became enduring tales, enjoyed by children and adults of many generations. As “Lewis Carroll” their author gained wealth and fame, and wrote further fiction. As himself, Dodgson shunned publicity, wrote mathematical papers under his own name, and succeeded in remaining a challenge to biographers who seek to resolve the enigma of Mr. Dodgson to this day...

				

				Oxford: the Tortured Thames

				South from Godstow, the spires of Oxford come into view across the open pastures of the horse-dotted Port Meadow, where grazing rights were bestowed by Edward the Confessor on the Freemen of Oxford - who still hold them a thousand years on. On the river’s east side lies the village of Binsey with its 800-year-old pub, The Perch. Retaining its thatched roof despite rebuilding following a fire in 1977, the pub was described by Thacker in The Stripling Thames in phrases dripping with English pastoralism: “upon the green, behind a duck pond, with pleasant lawns at the back, and an old English skittle ground, busy on Saturday afternoons.”

				Ahead, the river passes beneath the dainty Medley Footbridge and while its immediate surrounds encourage delusions of rural tranquillity it is soon parallel with icons of the industrial age: the railway and the Oxford Canal, running for 77 meandering miles to link the city with Coventry.

				Until now, the Thames has generally been the reason for the existence of every community along its course and retains high importance, albeit an aesthetic rather than commercial one. At Oxford, however, not only does the river have to endure the indignity of being improperly named, known to locals as the Isis and to cartographers hedging their bets as “Thames or Isis”, but it becomes shunted from centre stage to skirt the western edge of the city while a rival, the Cherwell, patrols the eastern side.

				Oxford began as a “ford for oxen” probably close to the site of an eighth-century Augustan priory and evolved into an important trade centre due to its waterways and position at England’s geographical heart. Gaining a castle in 1073 under Robert D’Oyley, a knight of William I, who recognized its strategic merits, Oxford prospered as a market town enjoying royal trading privileges on a par with those of London. To complement his hunting lodge at nearby Woodstock, Henry I raised Oxford’s long demolished Beaumont Palace and Henry III held a parliament at Oxford in 1256. Nonetheless, after centuries on steady course to become a major English city, Oxford embarked on a radically different course. The Royal River observes: “It had its Norman castle, its Guild Merchant, its charter as good as those of London. It was a place where parliaments met. It had a palace of the kings, and a rich Jewry, and a great mind to trade. But the university sprang up and choked these things.” In 1167, many of the Anglo-Norman scholars expelled from Paris as a result of Henry II’s disputes with France headed for the monastic schools at Oxford to continue their learning. In 1256, University College, the first of what today are almost forty colleges, was founded and academia steadily came to dominate the old Oxford of trade and commerce.

				With 18,000 students (of the “old” university, double that if one includes the newcomer, Oxford Brookes) and seemingly almost as many dons among its 147,000 population, Oxford spends the academic year as an intellectual powerhouse and the summer as a tourist attraction, drawing five million visitors annually. The latter imbibe the riot of collegiate architecture that comprises the city centre: the Gothic of Merton College; Magdalen’s medieval tower; Hawksmoor’s neo- classicism at The Queen’s College; the stone and brickwork patterns of Butterfield’s High Victorian Keble College. They inspect foibles such as the 1913 Bridge of Sighs above New College Lane linking two sections of Hertford College in imitation of its Venetian namesake, and find cerebral thrills at the Bodleian Library, among the world’s oldest repository of books and manuscripts with the much-photographed Radcliffe Camera as its main reading room, and the Ashmolean Museum, which is a repository of everything else, be it ancient Greek sculpture, Viking relics, Chinese porcelain, Milton’s snuffbox, Guy Fawkes’ lantern or Einstein’s blackboard.

				Salter’s and Folly Bridge

				Images of carefree and straw-hatted students punting along the Oxford waterways are as much a part of the city’s legend as its dreaming spires. Yet while the latter are real and punting remains popular, the image of the aristocratic oaf in plus-fours belongs to the past and as much to the Cherwell as the Thames. The Thames, however, provided the route for longer river trips; popularly north to Godstow or south to Nuneham Courtney. Boats could - and still can - be rented from the firm of Salter’s, which become the best-known boat yard on the Thames, claiming to have built the Oxford-Cambridge Boat Race winner for nine consecutive years and, from the late 1880s, running a popular steamboat trip to Kingston.

				Fred Thacker, apostle of the river’s joys and mysteries, was dismissive of the casual excursionist, writing in The Stripling Thames: “To the ordinary voyager from London, intent upon ‘doing the river’ in the fewest possible days, Salter’s’ raft is the ultimate limit and source of the Thames. He learns, if he learns anything, of mere slums above, of gasworks and railway bridges, and easily concludes that Nuneham and Iffley are the last word the River has for him...” Salter’s still plies its trade today though it might not have been the yard supplying a rented craft when in Oxford to Jerome K. Jerome and companions in Three Men in a Boat: “The boy went, and re-appeared five minutes afterwards, struggling with an antediluvian chunk of wood, that looked as though it had been recently dug out of somewhere, and dug out carelessly, so as to have been unnecessarily damaged in the process... Was it the fossil of a pre-Adamite whale, or was it an early Roman coffin? The boy said it was THE PRIDE OF THE THAMES.”

				Salter’s is sited close to the 1826 Folly Bridge, which earned its enduring nickname from an extra storey applied to the gatehouse of its seventeenth-century forerunner that created a topsy-turvy appearance. The bridge originated in the twelfth century with King Stephen’s drawbridge, built to aid the capture of Oxford from Queen Matilda by spanning the river on the main route from Abingdon. A latter version is said to have held, above the gatehouse on the north side, the study of Franciscan scientist-monk Roger Bacon (1214?-92), inventor of the optical lens and the magnifying glass before he himself was re-invented fictionally in the twentieth century by Ian Morson. Facing the bridge is The Head of the River pub, occupying a former warehouse, and the Folly House, its exterior decorated by statuettes said to represent ladies who once worked within during the house’s alleged time as a brothel.

				Racing towards Iffley

				If any certain statement can be made about the post-war world, it is that Eights Week has not lost its attractions. Industrial difficulties may shake society to its foundations, meetings and festivities of all sorts may be cancelled, trains may become scarcer and scarcer, but on every “night” of this unique week the traditional crowds are on the banks of the Isis. Indeed, they seem this year to be greater than ever; college barges could hardly hold another soul... the throng of punts on the towpath-side, adorned with a novel decoration of air-balloons, makes a continuous floating platform which Xerxes himself may have erected.

				The Times, 23 May 1921

				On the river, Oxford’s big events are the inter-collegiate rowing races of Eights Week, each May, and amid slightly less hullabaloo, Torpids, held in late February or early March. Both of these events began in the early 1800s and involve the arrow-like craft stored and lovingly maintained in the boathouses beside the river, most of them downstream from Folly Bridge adjacent to Christ Church Meadows. Both are bump races in which success is measured not by crossing the finish line first, but by “bumping” (that is catching up with, not necessarily smashing into it) the boat in front, the race having started with all boats arranged beside the bank in single file. With races staged over several days, a successful crew will steadily work its way up the starting order; the year’s final placings provide the initial positions for the following year’s races. The best overall Eight (the number of rowers in each boat) is head of the River - hence the name of the pub.

				The crowds, excitement and rituals of Eights Week that so delighted the Times correspondent show few show signs of abating and also provided a backdrop to Zuleika Dobson (1911), the only novel of wit and caricaturist Max Beerbohm. The tale’s eponymous character is a beautiful conjuror invited to the races by her grandfather, warden of the fictional Judas (based on Merton) College. Such are her radiant good looks that all men fall in love with Zuleika and are then driven to suicide by their unrequited passion - their massed deaths occurring at the climax of the races.

				Outside race weeks, the riverside scene is appreciably calmer. Below Donnington Bridge, Iffley Meadows provide 28 acres of unsullied, marshy greenery on the east side while, on the west, the Isis Tavern once had the distinction of being a pub with no road: supplies once arrived by river; they now come by truck along a dirt track.

				Iffley Lock is a 1923 successor to one of the earliest pound locks on the Thames, built around 1620. Iffley Mill, which once stood by the lock, survives only in the canvases of innumerable painters and the comments of Charles Dickens Jr.: “Rarely indeed is there an exhibition of the (Royal) Academy or the Dudley, or any of the water-colour societies without at least one bit from Iffley.” The painters might have been better advised to point their easels towards nearby Iffley Church, a fine expression of Norman beakhead and zigzag carving with a tower of perfect Norman arcades. Describing the church and its surrounds in Oxford (1965), Jan Morris wrote: “in a hush above the river - with a long low rectory on one side, and an old country house on another, and an owlish stump of a dead tree, and a dead yew, and a patch of shaggy walled graveyard so green, so silent and mole-heaped that you might still be far out in some distant rural backwater.”

				From the Sandford Lasher to the Swift Ditch

				“The pool under Sandford lasher, just behind the lock, is a very good place to drown yourself in,” wrote Jerome K. Jerome of the most vicious segment of the upper Thames. Those who have drowned here are remembered by an obelisk in the centre of the weir, sometimes used as a diving board by those with a devil-may-care attitude. The Lasher marks one of the biggest drops in water levels on the Thames, the frenzied scene of foaming water at odds with a landscape that becomes increasingly pastoral as Oxford recedes. Not that a placid landscape means an entirely placid past. The mill built at Sandford by the Knights Templar in the thirteenth century sucked water from the river and raised the ire of those living downstream. Thacker quotes a fourteenth-century account: “the men of Oxon broke down the locks of Sandford which ‘the brethren’ there raised.”

				From Sandford, the river passes farms, meadows and sewage works, and continues between Radley on one side and Nuneham Courtney on the other. Owned by the Courtenay family (of Sutton Courtenay) from the thirteenth century, the manor and accompanying land passed into the hands of Earl Harcourt (of the Stanton Harcourts) in 1712 for £17,000, a deal described as the “cheapest pennyworth that was ever bought in Oxfordshire.” The manor was demolished and the villa of Nuneham Courtney raised, gaining in the eighteenth century a Lawrence “Capability” Brown-designed 1,300-acre garden. Looming in the gardens like a mysterious hillside obelisk is the Carfax Conduit, a Jacobean-style stone cistern that originally stood at Carfax in the heart of Oxford to provide drinking water. As Carfax’s traffic increased, the cistern became an obstruction as was uprooted and presented to Lord Harcourt; it now provides befuddlement for boaters unaware of its history. Of Nuneham, James S. Whitman wrote in Down The Thames in a Birch-Bark Canoe, published in the American magazine, Harper’s, in 1881:

				No words could convey any adequate idea of the loveliness that gathers about the trees, the meadows, the cultivated fields and slopes, the old homesteads, the thatched roofs. One rests his paddle, and as he drifts lazily along with the stream, the distant sound of the Oxford bells blends mysteriously with the music of the lark singing from his invisible height, the notes of the cuckoo, and the cawing of the rooks. On this side and on that man and nature have lent each other a helping hand to produce picturesqueness and beauty. There is really an irresistible desire to land and stroll about the little retreat of Radley, on the right, that lies nestled amid elms, beeches, limes, and oaks, or forest beneath the wooded slopes of Nuneham, that most beautiful of English parks.

				By the early 1900s, Thames tourism was in full swing and Nuneham was more popular than ever, particularly for picnic parties who were allowed to land on Tuesdays and Thursday during the season. Not everyone approved. In 1910 Charles Harper observed: “Nuneham is the very last place to which anyone who is not a fish or duck would wish to go... Truly, no more miserable experience is possible than that of sitting in one of the picturesquely thatched arbours by the waterside, and dallying over a lukewarm tea, awaiting the hour for the up-river steamer’s arrival...”

				Continuing in what now is a westerly direction, the river reaches the point where its course was diverted around AD960 by monks of Abingdon Abbey for their own “convenience and cleanliness”. The original course was along the south side of Andersey Island towards Culham, a waterway that remained, according to Sydney R. Jones, “a secluded backwater owning every sort of Nature bounty in overgrowth and decked waters.” The old course is properly called Swift Ditch but is given on many maps as Back Water.

				Abingdon and Culham Bridge

				At Abingdon, the Thames is crossed by an eight-arched bridge dating from the fifteenth century though greatly rebuilt in the 1920s. The abbey, founded in AD675 to house twelve Benedictine monks, filled three acres and boasted a church 300-feet-long. Ransacked by Danes, restored by King Alfred and among the richest in England when dissolved by Henry VIII, the abbey is chiefly remembered by its splendid gatehouse. Meanwhile, beneath its tall spire, the Church of St. Helens provides a fine example of the ecclesiastical architecture known as Cotswold perpendicular.

				Aside from the modern outskirts and the seemingly perpetual traffic jams in its centre, Abingdon still holds much from its past. Joseph and Elizabeth Robins Pennell were sufficiently charmed to write in the August 1889 issue of The Century: “Abingdon is very picturesque, with its old gabled houses... its abbey gateway and St. Helens Church, whose graveyard is bounded by quaint old almshouses and whose spire is a landmark for the Thames traveler. But were I to begin to describe the endless beauty that lies near the Thames, and just hidden from it, I should never get back to the river again.”

				In News From Nowhere, William Morris wrote of Abingdon as scarred by “nineteenth-century degradation”, presumably mindful of the railway and the Wilts and Berks Canal which linked Abingdon with the Thames and Severn Canal and put it at the heart of the regional transport network. But another William Morris, born in Oxford and a one-time bicycle maker, would become more closely associated with Abingdon. Switching from bicycle to motor manufacturing, Morris created such British automotive icons as the Morris Oxford and the Morris Minor and, for fifty years until 1980, a factory at Abingdon manufactured the legendary MG sports car.

				South of Abingdon, Culham Bridge crosses Swift Ditch just before the old Thames course rejoins the new. Both Culham and Abingdon bridges were designed to improve Abingdon’s economy, threatened during the fifteenth century by a new bridge at Wallingford which provided an easier, if longer, transport route for London-bound Cotswold wool. While Abingdon Bridge was later rebuilt to accommodate increased traffic, Culham Bridge became neglected and, with road traffic now carried by a newer span, still looks like the medieval edifice it truly is. As Geoffrey Phillips noted in Thames Crossings, “if the ghost of a fifteenth-century mason should walk this way, he will find much that is familiar.”

				Sutton Courtenay and George Orwell

				Beyond Abingdon, the main navigable route of the Thames is through Culham Cut, though the old course meanders to the south to pass through Sutton Courtenay, once with 17 footbridges crossing the river and of which the 1929 Thames Survey wrote: “A charming and secluded village lying off the track of river-steamers, which pass through Culham Cut; it consists of one long and wide street with grass verges, and flanked by cottages of different periods, with a few larger houses that harmonise well with their environment.”

				Very little today renders the description obsolete. The Courtenay family gained the land on which the village sits from Henry II and raised the surviving stone Norman House around 1200. Although it serves a small community, and in various forms has done so since the thirteenth century, Sutton Courtenay’s Church of All Saints holds a couple of surprises in its cemetery. One is the grave of Herbert Henry Asquith, liberal prime minister from 1908 to 1916, who lived locally. Another is that on which an inscription reads: “Here Lies Eric Arthur Blair. Born June 25, 1903. Died January 21, 1950.” Eric Blair was the real name of author George Orwell, who had no connection during his life with Sutton Courtenay but willed to be buried in “a country churchyard”. Sutton Courtney was near the estate of Orwell’s close friend, newspaper editor David Astor, who arranged for Orwell to be buried here and who himself now lies amid the church’s yew trees.

				Orwell’s legend as author of such emotive and enduring works as Animal Farm and 1984 grew after his death; through his life he was chiefly regarded as a left-wing journalist who wrote novels on the side. In Orwell: The Life, D. J. Taylor writes of the author’s sparsely attended funeral: “This was, everyone agreed, a desperately sad affair: not some ancient literary eminence called to his eternal rest in a blaze of pomp and glory but a man of forty-six who had not survived long enough to taste the fruits of his success.” For one who championed so much that was truly English, Orwell’s quiet, simple grave in a tiny Oxfordshire village, visited only by those prepared to make the effort to do so, seems entirely proper: a less 1984 setting is hard to imagine.

				

				Culham, Clifton, the Barley Mow

				Close to Culham Lock and Sutton Bridge, the meandering off-shoot of the river rejoins the main Thames flowing through Culham Cut. To the north, structures usually non-committally described as “government buildings” on maps, are actually a base for the United Kingdom’s fusion energy research. Since 1960, finding a controllable, safe and non- polluting form of energy through fusion (rather than fission, the messy stuff of conventional nuclear power) has been the goal pursued here, and inside these innocent-looking buildings are scientists who spend their days heating plasma to ten million degrees centigrade and fussing over spherical Tokomaks.

				The Thames, meanwhile, continues beneath a 1920s railway viaduct to reach the village of Appleford. The Thames Survey suggested Appleford’s “charming river-front (is) spoilt by the close proximity of the railway viaduct now being built.” With the passage of time, however, the 167-foot-span structure has earned its place in the landscape; a landscape that The Royal River’s authors found abounding “in rural walks, and in subjects both for the pencil of the artist and the pen of the man of letters.”

				Ahead, the Clifton Cut makes for speedy passage towards Clifton Hampden, while the winding older course passes the edge of Long Wittenham. The digging of Clifton Cut was partly inspired by embarrassment when the mayor of London became stranded here in 1826. Thacker quotes a contemporary account titled The Lord Mayor’s Visit to Oxford: “The navigation here appeared to be particularly defective; for, with all the advantage of exertions that had been made by the Water-Bailiff ‘s directions, and the expense that had been incurred for the supply of water; the country having been comparatively drained for several miles along the upper districts, - and though the City Barge and shallop drew scarcely more than two feet of water - they were detained at Clifton a considerable length of time.”

				Since it increased the greater water flow through Clifton Hampden and prevented farmers from fording the river with their cattle, Culham Cut inspired the building of Clifton Bridge, designed by George Gilbert Scott, who would find greater architectural fame with London’s Albert Memorial and St. Pancras Station and who, legend records, first sketched a plan for the bridge on his cuff.

				Close to the south end of the six-arched bridge, the half-timbered, thatched-roof Barley Mow Inn is “without exception, I should say, the quaintest, most old-world inn up the river,” according to Jerome K Jerome, who wrote part of Three Men in a Boat while a guest. The inn was a regular stop for Victorian and Edwardian pleasure boaters but has been providing, food, ale and lodging for much longer. It celebrates its literary connection with the Jerome Rooms, which help make the Barley Mow, without exception I should say, the most over-rated feature on the Thames.

				The Wittenhams, Dorchester and Shillingford

				While Clifton Hampden and its thatched inn are a magnet for Thames travellers, the more intrepid find greater reward along the country lanes south of Clifton Bridge leading to Long Wittenham and Little Wittenham. At the latter, a footpath just beyond the church leads to Days Lock and a willow-fringed bridge beside a lock-keeper’s cottage. It was here in 1983 that the first world pooh sticks championship was held, inspired by a game played in A. A. Milne’s Winnie the Pooh. Each March, several hundred potential champions pay £1 to take part, the proceeds going to charity and the winner being the entrant whose stick, dropped into the river, is first to cross the finishing line.

				On the river’s west side rise the Dyke Hills, site of Iron Age fortifications guarding the settlement at Dorchester and accessible from the river by footpath. Strengthening the natural protection provided by the Thames and the River Thame, the defensive line nonetheless failed to hold back the Romans who established themselves here (Dorocina, as they knew it). By Saxon times, Dorchester was an important religious centre and in AD635 was made the see of the first Bishop of Wessex; on the site of its Saxon cathedral stands the partly twelfth-century abbey which dominates the village. By the 1920s Dorchester was a busy stop for coaches on the London-Oxford road, sufficiently so for the Thames Survey to warn that its “virtue may be impaired if advertisements, petrol-stations, and signboards are not regulated... already pink asbestos roof tiles have been used at the north end of the village.” That their warning was heeded, albeit with the help of the M40 motorway, enables Jerome K Jerome’s opinion to hold good: “Dorchester is a delightfully peaceful old place, nestling in stillness and silence and drowsiness.”

				Rising above the Thames south of Little Wittenham, Wittenham Clumps are a series of hills with more Iron Age fortifications, their defensive value clearly apparent after even the shortest climb since they afford a spectacular view over a large swath of countryside. They also offer a full panorama of Didcot Power Station, a provider of energy that has been draining water from the Thames since opening in the 1960s. J. R. L Anderson, in The Upper Thames (1970), described the power station as “one of the new citadels of technological strength... rising like some gaunt prison of the spirit. In a light Thames mist it can appear as a fairy castle.” Readers of Country Life, by contrast, voted it Britain’s third biggest eyesore in 2003.

				Continuing south, the river passes beneath the impressive three-arch Shillingford Bridge, completed in the 1820s entirely of stone. Records suggest that a bridge existed here from 1301, probably erected to provide access to the abbey at Dorchester but later destroyed, presumably for the security threat it posed to the castle at Wallingford. Carrying the A329 as it sweeps towards Oxford from the steep, tree-shrouded Shillingford Hill on the south side, the elegance of the bridge is enhanced by its 1920s balustrades and the simple fact of it being entirely disproportional to the small community around it.

				Travelling this section of the Thames in 1805, artist J. M. W. Turner painted the then wooden Shillingford Bridge and, behind it, the Bridge Hotel, which remains in progress-defying solitude on the south side. Turner also sketched the view towards Benson, just below Shillingford, with Benson weir in the foreground; an outlook of which fellow artist Samuel Ireland noted: “the gentle fall of its waters, forming a continual cascade, connects a pleasing section of objects, highly worthy of the exertions of an artist.”

				Wallingford

				A sixteen-arch and part-thirteenth-century bridge, a ruined castle, and the Church of St. Peter with its elegant spire, suggest that Wallingford has a past much grander than its present. The town indeed conceals a startling history: it grew as the area’s lowest all-year river crossing; Sweyn ransacked it during the Danish invasion of 1006; the castle was built in 1067; a parliament was held under Henry II in 1154; Cromwell demolished the castle during the Civil War; and fire devastated the town in 1675. Some four hundred years before Cromwell, the castle provided refuge for Matilda, daughter of Henry I, after she escaped imprisonment at Oxford and crossed, it was popularly recorded, a frozen Thames barefoot. The subsequent Treaty of Wallingford solved the succession dispute that had been the reason for Matilda’s incarceration, allowing for Stephen I to rule until his death and for Matilda’s son, Henry, to then take the crown - which he did in 1154, beginning the Plantagenet dynasty.

				Remarking in the 1940s that the town’s railway station had no trains, save for a tiny steam engine that did little to lure passengers off the London-Oxford mainline service, Sydney R. Jones deduced a shrewd move: “In this way Wallingford has managed its railway affairs quite as well as Abingdon. That old puffing traveller through the cornfields saved the town; it has helped to reserve Wallingford on the Thames riverside, a remarkably pleasant town, the very place for a sensible soul to settle down to sleep in and achieve a tremendous old age.”

				A tiny corner of Wallingford may forever be associated with red herrings, devious servants and record-breaking book sales. For many years until her death in 1976, Winterbrook Lodge was home to Agatha Christie, the reclusive grande dame of country house whodunnits. Among Christie’s legion of followers are those who insist that the lodge was the model for Danemead, home of Christie’s fictional sleuth Miss Marple, and that Wallingford itself is thinly disguised in Christie’s work as Market Basing. They may, of course, be on completely the wrong track...

				Time to ruminate on the ups and downs of Wallingford’s history is provided by the river continuing south though a pleasant course untroubled by distinctive landmarks. Of Cholsey, however, it might be worth noting a Thames Survey entry for the village, suggesting: “the County Mental Hospital... requires screening from the river by a belt of trees.” Whether to shield the inmates from the crazed antics of Sunday boaters or vice-versa is not made clear.

				A short way beyond, Isambard Kingdom Brunel’s brick-arched Moulsford Bridge carries the London-Oxford railway over the river and past the Beetle and Wedge, the quaintly-named hotel known to readers of H. G. Wells’ The History of Mr. Polly as the Potwell Inn: “It was about two o’clock in the afternoon one hot day in high May when Mr. Polly, unhurrying and serene, came to that broad bend of the river to which the little lawn and garden of the Potwell Inn run down.” From here, the Thames continues toward Goring Gap. Dividing the Chilterns of Oxfordshire from the Berkshire Downs, the gap formed at the end of the last Ice Age as the glacially-assisted river gouged a route through chalk hills. It now divides itself into three wide and shallow channels around two islands as it passes between the neighbouring villages of Goring and Streatley.

				Goring and Streatley

				Goring is the far larger of the two communities but it was not always so. Streatley enjoyed a prominence thanks to its place on the Reading turnpike, the route’s former post house now the Bull Inn where, in Three Men in a Boat, Jerome K. Jerome and companions consume a lunch “much to Montmorency’s satisfaction”.

				An earlier traveller was J. M. W. Turner whose 1805 Goring depicts grazing cows before the local mill and church. Unwittingly, Turner started a trend. George Leslie, himself an artist, wrote in the 1880s: “One cannot wonder at the number of artists who are attracted by the many beauties of Streatley and Goring; the river, the two mills, the eyots and backwaters all lend themselves to the painter’s skill, the whole place abounding in rich material for his art. But my pleasure in it, I am ashamed to confess, is considerably lessened by the numbers of sketching tents and white umbrellas that meet the eye, perched on every point of vantage around this spot: in the sketching season the little coffee room at the Swan has easels and artists’ traps in every corner, and the village swarms with geniuses and their wives.”

				A contrast to the rural idyll admired by easel-bearers arriving in Turner’s wake is provided by the 1997 glass-and-steel boating pavilion that sits by the river bank, erected by architects Brookes Stacey Randall. According to the architects, the pavilion provides “a very contextual response whilst being dynamic in form... [enabling] the client to enjoy the life of the river whilst being firmly rooted in the landscape.”

				While some find the setting overly twee and others find the boating pavilion overly modern, the location’s true worth is found at the summit of Streatley Hill and the view of Goring Gap that unfolds beyond. Elizabeth and Joseph Robins Pennell recalled: “It was the hour of sunset when we mounted and looked down on the valley, spread out like a map below, the river winding through it, a path of light between the open fields, a cold, dark shadow under the wooded banks. May the lazy minstrel another time wait to smoke and weave his lazy lay until he has climbed the hill, and then he will sing of something besides the Swan at Streatley!”

				Pangbourne and Mapledurham

				Running for a time parallel to the river, the railway into Pangbourne crosses a bridge “covered with a multitude of glaring advertisements that positively repel the visitor and discourage him from lingering to enjoy the many attractions,” according to the 1920s Thames Survey. In News from Nowhere, William Morris refers to Pangbourne as having been “thoroughly cocknified” (the term “cockney” at the time commonly applied to middle-class Londoners relocating westwards). All of which seems a little harsh on what is a pretty, if unremarkable, Thamesside commuter town, though it might explain the retaining of the toll on the white-painted lattice girder bridge that links Pangbourne to Whitchurch, a small community on the Oxfordshire bank. A 10p charge is levied on cars (walkers and cyclists free), presumably to deter cocknified Pangbournites from disturbing the peace with their infernal horseless carriages.

				A fictional Pangbourne estate of luxury homes behind high security fences formed a backdrop for J. G. Ballard’s 1988 novella Running Wild, which begins with all 32 of the estate’s adults being found murdered, the culprits eventually discovered to be their own children who killed “to free themselves from a tyranny of love and care.” The tale was described by Publisher’s Weekly as “a sharp portrait of complacent privilege in Thatcher’s England.”

				Onward, the river negotiates a broad sweeping bend overlooked on the left by the Tudor-age Hardwick House and, soon after though slightly hidden by trees, the imposing Mapledurham House. Raised in the sixteenth century by the Bourne family in the shape of an “E”, for Elizabeth I, who was an occasional guest, and still occupied by the Bournes, the house provided sanctuary for Catholics (as the Bournes were) at a time when practising the faith was illegal.

				Mapledurham gives its name to the hamlet around it and is the only spot on the Thames likely to unite fans of John Galsworthy, Kenneth Grahame and Ozzy Osbourne. The house was cast as Soames’ mansion in Galsworthy’s The Forsythe Saga: “It was full late for the river, but the weather was lovely, and summer lingered below the yellowing leaves. Soames took many looks at the day from his riverside garden near Mapledurham that Sunday morning.” It also inspired Toad Hall in Kenneth Grahame’s The Wind in the Willows: “Rounding a bend in the river, they came in sight of a handsome, dignified old house of mellowed red brick, with well-kept lawns reaching down to the water’s edge.” And in 1970 Osbourne’s pioneering heavy metal band Black Sabbath used the house’s fourteenth-century windmill as a backdrop for the cover of their first album.

				With indecent speed, the country landscapes around Mapledurham become the sprawl of Reading, ever-expanding alongside the M4 motorway. Like many of its neighbours, Caversham is a once-individual community now largely consumed by suburban creep. From the twelfth century, however, it was consumed by pilgrims visiting Our Lady of Caversham’s shrine. A jewel-encrusted statue of the Virgin Mary provided the shrine’s focal point but, among other relics, the shrine claimed a spearhead that pierced Christ on the cross, a piece of the rope with which Judas hanged himself, and the knife that killed St. Edward the martyr. The 1538 dissolution closed the shrine, its location now disputed. Caversham’s early wooden bridge and a chapel that stood on an island alongside it are also long gone, the river now crossed by the concrete Caversham Bridge opened in 1926 by the Prince of Wales: one of the less controversial moments in the life of the future Edward VIII.

				“Oh Beautiful World”: Reading

				Reaching Reading after travelling on the Thames from London in the 1960s, a nonplussed J. H. B. Peel remarked: “First, a power station appears, rearing like a poisonous fungus in the waste land; after that, shunting sheds in various shades of British Railway dirt, followed by gas-works, tin huts, and factories wreathed with pylons and cables which, if they were reproduced in little, would be acclaimed as the sculpture of the year: and above the lot, a cancerous halo.” Whatever its ills, Reading no longer justifies Peel’s description, not least because most riverside totems of manufacturing industries have given way to an agreeable if unexciting riverside promenade and British Railway dirt is the stuff of nostalgia.

				Reading’s rise was due to the River Kennet rather than the Thames and its early growth was triggered by a Benedictine abbey founded by Henry I in 1121. Lasting infamy, however, was acquired by imprisoning the writer and wit Oscar Wilde in the 1890s. For gross indecency (the then crime of homosexuality), Wilde received two years’ hard labour, most of it spent in Reading Jail’s cell C33. His stay inspired The Ballad of Reading Gaol, written in France following his release and built around the fate of another Reading inmate, Charles Wooleridge, a guardsmen executed in 1896 for killing his wife, though revealing Wilde’s thoughts on prison life:

				The vilest deeds like poison-weeds

				Bloom well in prison-air:

				It is only what is good in Man

				That wastes and withers there:

				Pale Anguish keeps the heavy gate

				And the Warder is Despair.

				Across the Kennet from the bleak jail stands Bruce Williams’ statue of Wilde, unveiled in 2000 and forming part of the Oscar Wilde Memorial Walk which includes the riverside railings onto which is etched “Oh Beautiful World!”, the phrase uttered by Wilde on his release in May 1897.
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